Published for SISSA by 🖉 Springer

RECEIVED: August 14, 2023 REVISED: September 18, 2023 ACCEPTED: September 19, 2023 PUBLISHED: September 26, 2023

# Implications of protecting the QCD axion in the dual description

# Gongjun Choi<sup>a</sup> and Jacob Leedom<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Theoretical Physics Department, CERN, 1211 Geneva 23, Switzerland
<sup>b</sup>Deutsches Elektronen-Synchrotron DESY, Notkestr. 85, 22607 Hamburg, Germany

*E-mail:* gongjun.choi@cern.ch, jacob.michael.leedom@desy.de

ABSTRACT: The QCD axion can be formulated in a dual description as a massive 2-form field. In this picture, the QCD axion quality problem translates into the question if there are additional 3-forms coupled to the axion other than the QCD 3-form that emerges at low energy. If such forms exist, the quality problem can be resolved via the introduction of other massive 2-forms (and thus corresponding axions), one for each additional 3-form. This can motivate an "axiverse from a high quality QCD axion". In this work, we discuss this issue in the general case where the QCD axion couples to arbitrarily many 3-forms. Given the multiple axion solution, we discuss the phenomenological implications of the enhanced quality of the QCD axion in the dual description. These include sub-eV axion-like particle search through the axion-photon coupling, the cosmological consistency of a large decay constant QCD axion, and a model for the observed cosmic birefringence.

KEYWORDS: Axions and ALPs, Cosmology of Theories BSM, Gauge Symmetry, Global Symmetries

ARXIV EPRINT: 2307.08733



# Contents

1	Inti	roduct	ion	1
2	Axion quality in dual description			3
	2.1 QCD axion quality problem			3
	2.2	Multi	ple axions for QCD axion quality	5
3	Implications			7
	3.1 QCD axion		7	
		3.1.1	Axion-photon coupling: sub-eV ALP search	7
		3.1.2	Entropy production from a heavy ALP	9
	3.2 Quintessence axion		9	
		3.2.1	Quintessence axion quality problem and solution	9
		3.2.2	A model explaining the cosmic birefringence	10
4 Conclusion			12	

#### Conclusion 4

#### Introduction 1

The QCD axion provides an elegant resolution to the Strong CP problem present in the Standard Model (SM) [1–4]. In brief, the Standard Model supplemented with the QCD axion contains the operators

$$\mathcal{L} \supset \frac{1}{32\pi^2} \left( \theta + \frac{a}{F_a} \right) \operatorname{Tr}[F_{\mu\nu} \tilde{F}^{\mu\nu}]$$
(1.1)

where  $\theta$  encodes contributions from a bare parameter as well as phases of the colored fermion mass matrix,  $F^a_{\mu\nu}$  is the SU(3)<sub>c</sub> field strength tensor with  $\tilde{F}^{a\mu\nu} = (1/2)\epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}F^{a\rho\sigma}$ its dual, and a is the QCD axion with  $F_a$  its decay constant. Measurements of the neutron electric dipole moment find a constraint on the effective theta parameter  $\bar{\theta} \equiv \theta + (a/F_a)$  as  $\bar{\theta} \lesssim 10^{-10}$  [5]. In the absence of an axion, this result indicates an extreme fine tuning in the SM. However, the axion provides a natural explanation — due to the above Chern-Simons coupling, the axion develops a potential from QCD instanton effects and  $\bar{\theta}$  is dynamically set to zero.

In spite of this appealing picture, the QCD axion is plagued by a *quality problem*: if there are additional contributions to the axion potential beyond QCD instanton effects, then the minimum  $\bar{\theta}_{\min}$  of the total potential for  $\bar{\theta}$  may violate  $\bar{\theta} \leq 10^{-10}$ . Thus the QCD axion would no longer resolve the Strong CP puzzle.

The global nature of the  $U(1)_{PQ}$  Peccei-Quinn (PQ) symmetry [1, 2] is one of underlying reasons why the QCD axion is at risk. Since global symmetries are generically expected to be broken in an ultraviolet unification of the SM and gravity [6–10], PQ symmetry violating higher dimensional operators such as  $\mathcal{L} \supset c_n(\Phi^n + \Phi^{\dagger n})/M_P^{n-4}$   $(n \ge 5)$  [11–14] are expected to exist, where  $\Phi = (\phi/\sqrt{2})e^{ia/F_a}$  the PQ complex scalar and  $M_P \simeq 2.4 \times 10^{18}$  GeV the reduced Planck mass. Without sufficient suppression, the contribution to the axion potential from these operators can easily shift  $\bar{\theta}_{\min}$  and thus they pose a challenge to resolving the Strong CP puzzle via the QCD axion.

This situation tempts us to gauge the axionic shift symmetry to preclude such problematic perturbative higher dimensional operators. In the dual description, the axion is dualized to a 2-form anti-symmetric field  $B_{\mu\nu}$ , and the global axionic shift symmetry manifests as a gauge symmetry  $B_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow B_{\mu\nu} + \partial_{[\mu}\lambda_{\nu]}$ . One can then translate the Strong CP problem as the existence of a non-zero 4-form arising as the field strength of the QCD 3-form that emerges in the infrared limit. This 4-form gets Higgsed via a Stückelberg mechanism that couples the 2-form and 3-form [15, 16].

Despite the advantages of this picture, a quality issue can still arise if the QCD axion couples to additional 3-forms beyond the QCD Chern-Simons (CS) 3-form. Nevertheless, when compared to the PQ picture, the QCD axion quality issue is under a better control in the dual description in that underlying physics spoiling  $\bar{\theta}_{\min} = 0$  is unique. This uniqueness leads to a straightforward resolution to the axion quality problem in the dual description: one simply Higgses all the 3-forms coupled to the QCD axion via the inclusion of additional two-forms<sup>1</sup> [15, 20]. This simple and clear perspective toward the quality issue serves as an appealing point of the dual description in comparison with the PQ picture. The idea of multiple two forms enhancing the quality of the QCD axion in the dual description may motivate the axion-like particles (ALP) even if we restrict ourselves to the low energy effective theories.

This resolution of the QCD axion quality problem has the further attractive feature that it can be motivated from string theory. Multiple 3-forms are not only permitted from an effective field theory viewpoint, they arise naturally and plentifully in string compactifications [21]. Furthermore, Kaluza-Klein reduction of p-forms gives rise to a plethora of axions, giving rise to the so-called Axiverse [22, 23]. One can then view the above mechanism as a natural solution to the QCD axion quality problem in the context of the string Axiverse with 3-forms included.

In this paper, motivated by this observation, we study intriguing implications of the multiple axion scenarios resulting from the high quality of the QCD axion. After reviewing the axion quality problem in the dual picture in section 2, we discuss phenemenological implications for axions in general in section 3. Section 3.1 is dedicated to QCD axion phenomenology. This involves a sub-eV and a heavy (TeV scale) ALP coupling to the SM photon which is induced due to the mass mixing with the QCD axion. In section 3.2, we discuss how the two form dual description can be applied to model-building for a quintessence axion dark energy and the advantage of the framework in explaining the observed cosmic birefringence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Also see [17–19] for related discussions regarding multiple axions models solving quality issues associated with colored gravitational instantons as well the associated phenomenology and cosmology.

# 2 Axion quality in dual description

#### 2.1 QCD axion quality problem

In the dual formulation of the QCD axion [15], the PQ pseudo-scalar is exchanged with a 2-form field  $B_{\mu\nu}$ . To give a mass to the 2-form, one introduces a 3-form C. Since the field strength G = dC is a 4-form, it is non-dynamical in 4d spacetime, but its existence implies a uniform electric field. Furthermore, one can construct the combination  $(dB - mC)^2$ , with m a dimensionful parameter. This is invariant under  $B \to B + m\Omega$  with  $C \to C + d\Omega$  and is thus a gauge invariant mass term. One can think of this as a higher-form version of the Stückelberg mechanism that screens the 4-form electric field.

To apply this picture to solving the Strong CP problem, one identifies the 3-form C with the QCD 3-form that emerges in the IR [24]. When we define the charge density  $q(x) \equiv (1/16\pi^2) \text{Tr}[F_{\mu\nu}\tilde{F}^{\mu\nu}]$  from the SU(3)<sub>c</sub> field strength, its expectation value with respect to the  $\theta$ -vacua satisfies  $\langle q(x) \rangle \propto \sin \theta$  in the dilute gas approximation [25, 26]. The important observation is that the gauge invariant mass term for C enabled by the mixing with the 2-form B removes the pole in the correlator of C. This leads to the screening of the 4-form electric field  $dC \propto \langle q(x) \rangle$  and thus vanishing  $\theta$ . This is not the case when the CS 3-form  $C_{\mu\nu\lambda}$  is massless in the absence of the 2-form [24].

However, the axion's capability to maintain CP conservation in the QCD sector can be spoiled if there is an additional 3-form field to which the axion couples aside from the QCD CS 3-form  $C_{\mu\nu\lambda}$  [15]. The extra 3-form  $E_{\mu\nu\lambda}$  may be, for instance, a CS 3-form field of a hidden strongly coupled gauge theory or the gravitational CS 3-form whose field strength is  $R\tilde{R} = (\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}/2)R_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}R^{\alpha\beta}_{\rho\sigma}$ , with  $R_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}$  the Riemmann curvature tensor. If the 2-form field transforms as  $B_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow B + m'\Omega'$  under the gauge transformation  $m'E \rightarrow m'(E + d\Omega')$ , B can couple to E. When there are fewer 2-forms than 3-forms in the theory, not all of 3-forms can be Higgsed. This prevents the full screening of the QCD 4-form electric field, raising the question of if  $\theta_{\rm QCD}$  resulting from the partial screening is small enough.

To quantify the quality of the QCD axion in this problematic situation, consider the low energy QCD below the scale  $\Lambda_{\rm QCD} \simeq 0.2 \,\text{GeV}$  where QCD becomes strongly coupled. The theory is described by [20]

$$\mathcal{L}(C, E, B) \supset -\frac{1}{2 \cdot 4!} \Big( H_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} H^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} + K_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} K^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \Big) -\frac{1}{2 \cdot 3!} G_{\mu\nu\lambda} G^{\mu\nu\lambda} - \frac{1}{3!} \frac{\epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}}{f_a} G_{\mu\nu\lambda} J_{\rho} -\frac{1}{4!} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \Big( \theta_{\rm QCD} \Lambda^2_{\rm QCD} H_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} + \theta_h \Lambda^2_h K_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \Big) , \qquad (2.1)$$

where K = dE and H = dC are the gauge invariant field strengths of 3-forms E and C, respectively, and  $G = dB + m_aC + M_aE$ . Here  $m_a$  and  $M_a$  are dimensionful parameters.  $J_{\rho}$  is the chiral current which carries PQ charge in the PQ picture. For simplicity, here we consider only leading (quadratic) contributions to functional dependence of the action on the field strengths of three forms. We dualize the theory by enforcing the Bianchi identity  $dG = (\Lambda_{\text{QCD}}^2/f_a)H + (\Lambda_h^2/f_a)K$ . The dimensionful parameters  $\Lambda_{\text{QCD}}$  and  $\Lambda_h$  guarantee the canonical mass dimension 2 of Hand K. Each scale can be interpreted as  $\rho^{-1}$  where  $\rho$  is a size of instanton of a gauge theory associated with a 3-form, which makes a dominant contribution to the axion potential. Introducing the other dimensionful parameter  $f_a$  follows from the mass dimension matching in the Bianchi identity. Note that the same dimensionful parameter  $f_a$  also appears in the coupling of the 2-form field  $B_{\mu\nu}$  to the current  $J_{\rho}$  in eq. (2.1). This is because the above  $f_a$ in dG will turn out to be the axion decay constant in the PQ picture and axion couples to the chiral fermion current via the derivative coupling with the decay constant  $f_a$ .

The Bianchi identity can be implemented by adding the following term to the above Lagrangian

$$-\frac{a}{3!} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \left( \partial_{\mu} G_{\nu\lambda\rho} - \frac{1}{4} \frac{\Lambda_{\rm QCD}^2}{f_a} H_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} - \frac{1}{4} \frac{\Lambda_h^2}{f_a} K_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \right) , \qquad (2.2)$$

where a is the Lagrange multiplier which is to be identified with the QCD axion. As  $dG = m_a dC + M_a dE = m_a H + M_a K$ , we infer the relations  $m_a = \Lambda_{\rm QCD}^2 / f_a$  and  $M_a = \Lambda_h^2 / f_a$  from the identity.

Integrating out G (equivalently B), one obtains the Lagrangian for a, C and E

$$\mathcal{L}(C, E, a) = -\frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} a \partial^{\mu} a - \frac{1}{f_a} J^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} a - \frac{1}{2f_a^2} J_{\mu} J^{\mu} + (m_a a - \theta_{\text{QCD}} \Lambda_{\text{QCD}}^2) X + (M_a a - \theta_h \Lambda_h^2) Y - \frac{1}{2} X^2 - \frac{1}{2} Y^2, \qquad (2.3)$$

where  $X \equiv (1/4!)\epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}H_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$  and  $Y \equiv (1/4!)\epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}K_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$ .

From the equation of motion for a from eq. (2.3), we obtain

$$\frac{\partial V(a)}{\partial a} = m_a X + M_a Y \,. \tag{2.4}$$

On the other hand, the equations of motion of C and E obtained from eqs. (2.1) and (2.2) give  $us^2$ 

$$X = m_a a - \theta_{\rm QCD} \Lambda_{\rm QCD}^2, \quad Y = M_a a - \theta_h \Lambda_h^2.$$
(2.5)

Now here lies the crux of the axion quality issue in the dual description: were it not for Y, the global minimum  $a_{\min,X}$  of the axion potential corresponds to X = 0 via eq. (2.4) and therefore we infer  $a_{\min,X} = \theta_{\text{QCD}} \Lambda_{\text{QCD}}^2 / m_a$  from eq. (2.5). This provides the dynamical axion solution to the strong CP problem. The introduction of the additional 3-form E and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In fact, there must be another contribution to the right hand sides in eq. (2.5) which are the integration constants arising from the equations of motion of 3-forms. When a shift transformation rule of these constants is assigned properly, it can cancel a discrete shift of axion, which realizes the shift symmetric property of axion potential [15]. In other UV-completed models based on the similar framework [27–29], the more concrete way to have the desired cancellation is possible by relying on the shift of 3-form conjugate momentum by the amount of a membrane charge. Note that in the dual description, the periodicity of the axion implies a discrete gauge symmetry that protects the mass of the axion [27, 29–31].

its coupling to the axion, however, produces the dependence of V(a) on Y in eq. (2.4) and thus a new global minimum  $a_{\min,X,Y}$  of V(a) in the presence of E becomes [20]

$$a_{\min,X,Y} = \frac{m_a \theta_{\text{QCD}} \Lambda_{\text{QCD}}^2 + M_a \theta_h \Lambda_h^2}{m_a^2 + M_a^2} \,. \tag{2.6}$$

The shift in the minimum is

$$\Delta \theta_{\min} = \frac{a_{\min,X,Y} - a_{\min,X}}{f_a}$$

$$\simeq \begin{cases} \theta_h \left(\frac{\Lambda_h}{\Lambda_{QCD}}\right)^4, & \text{for } m_a \gg M_a, \\ \theta_h - \theta_{QCD}, & \text{for } m_a \ll M_a, \end{cases}$$
(2.7)

where we have used  $m_a = \Lambda_{\text{QCD}}^2/f_a$  and  $M_a = \Lambda_h^2/f_a$ . Hence, unless the shift in the minimum above satisfies

$$\Delta \theta_{\min} \lesssim 10^{-10} \,, \tag{2.8}$$

the QCD axion cannot account for the CP invariance of the QCD sector.

Since  $\Delta \theta_{\min} \simeq \theta_h (\Lambda_h / \Lambda_{\text{QCD}})^4$  when  $m_a \gg M_a$  ( $\Lambda_h \ll \Lambda_{\text{QCD}}$ ), we demand  $\Lambda_h \lesssim 10^{-3}\Lambda_{\text{QCD}}$  to satisfy eq. (2.8). On the contrary, for  $m_a \ll M_a$  ( $\Lambda_h \gg \Lambda_{\text{QCD}}$ ), constraining  $\Lambda_h$  does not resolve the spoiled axion quality. This can happen, for example, when small instantons of non-Abelian gauge theories (NAGT) other than QCD contribute to V(a). If the two form axion mixes with NAGTs with confinement scales larger than  $\Lambda_h > \Lambda_{\text{QCD}}$ , instantons of the size  $\rho \sim \Lambda_h^{-1}$  will cause  $\Delta \theta_{\min} \simeq \theta_h - \theta_{\text{QCD}}$  as in eq. (2.7).

Below we restrict ourselves to the later case for discussing the phenomenological implications of the high quality axion in the dual description.

#### 2.2 Multiple axions for QCD axion quality

We have seen that axion cannot resolve the strong CP problem if there are more 3-forms coupled to the QCD axion than the number of 2-forms in the theory. The straightforward solution to this issue is to simply introduce additional 2-forms into the theory such that all the 3-forms can be Higgsed [20].

Suppose we introduce a second 2-form  $\tilde{B}$  with  $\tilde{G} = d\tilde{B} + M_b E$ . As with eq. (2.2), we have a Bianchi identity for  $\tilde{G}$ :

$$-\frac{b}{3!} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \left( \partial_{\mu} \tilde{G}_{\nu\lambda\rho} - \frac{1}{4} \frac{\Lambda_h^2}{f_b} K_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \right) \,. \tag{2.9}$$

After integrating out G and  $\tilde{G}$ , one obtains a Lagrangian for a, b, C and E. This gives the following relation through the equation of motion of b axion

$$\frac{\partial V(b)}{\partial b} = M_b Y \,. \tag{2.10}$$

Now with two relations for X and Y from eqs. (2.4) and (2.10), we can move to a new basis of 3-forms  $(\bar{X}, \bar{Y})$ 

$$\bar{m}_a \bar{X} = m_a X + M_a Y, \quad \bar{m}_b \bar{Y} = M_b Y.$$
(2.11)

In this basis, the axion potentials satisfy

$$\frac{\partial V(a)}{\partial a} = \bar{m}_a \bar{X} \,, \quad \frac{\partial V(b)}{\partial b} = \bar{m}_b \bar{Y} \,, \tag{2.12}$$

which results in the correspondence between the global minimum  $a_{\min,\bar{X}}$   $(b_{\min,\bar{Y}})$  of V(a) (V(b)) and  $\bar{X} = 0$   $(\bar{Y} = 0)$ .

From eq. (2.12), we can infer that both axions are dynamically driven to  $a_{\min,\bar{X}}$  and  $b_{\min,\bar{Y}}$ , where  $\bar{X}, \bar{Y} = 0$ . Hence, the condition for the QCD axion to solve the strong CP problem, i.e. the correspondence between  $\bar{X} = 0$  and  $a_{\min,\bar{X}}$  is restored.

Although our claim was based on the specific case of two 3-forms coupled to QCD axion, this can be readily generalized to the case where multiple 3-forms are coupled to the axion. By a field redefinition of the 3-forms, one can have a QCD axion decoupled from 3-forms other than the QCD 3-form. The key point is that it is possible to change the basis of the 3-forms such that each axion couples to a single 3-form. This will establish the relation

$$\frac{\partial V(a_i)}{\partial a_i} = \bar{m}_{a_i} \bar{X}_i, \quad (i = 1, 2, \ldots)$$
(2.13)

where *i* labels an axion  $a_i$  and a 3-form coupled to  $a_i$ . Therefore, this one-to-one correspondence between each axion potential  $V(a_i)$  and  $\bar{X}_i$  associates each  $a_{\min,\bar{X}}$  to  $\bar{X}_i = 0$ . When applied to QCD sector,  $\bar{X}_{\text{QCD}} = 0$  guarantees CP conservation.

This shows that the completeness of the axion solution to the strong CP problem requires the matching of the number of 3-forms coupled to QCD axion and that of 2-forms in the theory. Therefore, the quality issue of QCD axion in the dual description may hint for the presence of extra axions. The perspective of correlating the extra axions and the quality of QCD axion motivates discussion for potential impacts on QCD axion phenomenology. In section 3 we discuss several implications of the framework we presented so far.

An example of this situation manifested long ago from embedding the QCD axion in the M-theory limit of the  $E_8 \times E_8$  heterotic string [32–35]. Naively, the model-independent axion in these constructions is an excellent candidate for the QCD axion due to its automatic Chern-Simons couplings to gauge fields. However, it couples to both the SM gauge sector as well as the hidden  $E_8$  sector (or subgroups thereof, depending on the details of the compactification). This implies that the model-independent axion will generically couple to more than one 3-form. This situation is remedied by including model-dependent axions. One-loop corrections to the gauge kinetic function [36, 37] induce a Chern-Simons coupling for the model-dependent axions, and in the large volume limit a linear combination of axions becomes the QCD axion [35]. The large volume limit has the additional attractive feature of suppressing worldsheet instanton [38, 39] effects.

In the similar spirit, as mentioned at the end of section 2.1, a UV model including small instantons can be another example. In other string models, there may arise multiple small instanton-induced  $\Delta V(a)$ , which in the dual formulation corresponds to QCD two form axion mixing with the multiple three forms. In this case, the high quality of QCD axion demands multiple axions as many as the hidden NAGTs with confinement scales  $\Lambda_h > \Lambda_{\rm QCD}$ .

### 3 Implications

#### 3.1 QCD axion

# 3.1.1 Axion-photon coupling: sub-eV ALP search

When the second 2-form  $\tilde{B}$  was introduced with  $\tilde{G} = d\tilde{B} + M_b E$  in the previous section, there arises a mixing between two axions a and b since the set-up couples both axions to the three form  $E_{\mu\nu\lambda}$ . This mixing will give the b axion an induced coupling to the SM photon provided the theory contains the operator  $\propto a(F_{\rm em} \wedge F_{\rm em})$  with  $F_{\rm em}$  the field strength of the U(1)<sub>em</sub> electromagnetic gauge field.

After introducing b axion with  $\tilde{G} = d\tilde{B} + M_b E$  and integrating out G and  $\tilde{G}$ , a part of Lagrangian can be written as

$$\mathcal{L}(X,Y) \supset -\frac{1}{2}X^2 - \frac{1}{2}Y^2 + am_a X + (aM_a + bM_b)Y.$$
(3.1)

Here  $M_a = \Lambda_h^2/f_a$  and  $M_b = \Lambda_h^2/f_b$  with  $f_a, f_b$  decay constants in the interaction eigenbasis of axions.

After X and Y (C and E) are integrated out, eq. (3.1) gives<sup>3</sup>

$$V(a,b) = \frac{1}{2}m_a^2 a^2 + \frac{1}{2}(M_a a + M_b b)^2.$$
(3.2)

In (X, Y) basis of the 3-forms, we see that there is the mixing between a and b.

When  $m_a \ll M_a(\Lambda_{\rm QCD} \ll \Lambda_h)$  holds, diagonalization of the mass matrix of axions gives

$$a = -\frac{r}{\sqrt{1+r^2}}a' + \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+r^2}}b',$$
  

$$b = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+r^2}}a' + \frac{r}{\sqrt{1+r^2}}b',$$
(3.3)

where  $r = M_b/M_a$  and the (un)primed basis is the mass (interaction) eigenbasis. And, the mass eigenvalues read

$$(m_{a'})^2 \simeq \left(\frac{r}{\sqrt{1+r^2}}\right)^2 m_a^2, \quad (m_{b'})^2 \simeq (1+r^{-2})M_b^2.$$
 (3.4)

Substituting eq. (3.3) into the usual QCD axion-photon coupling we have in PQ picture, i.e.  $\mathcal{L} \supset -(g/2) a F_{\text{em}} \wedge F_{\text{em}}$ , we find

$$\mathcal{L} \supset \left(\frac{r}{\sqrt{1+r^2}}a' - \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+r^2}}b'\right)\frac{g}{8}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}F_{\mu\nu}F_{\rho\lambda}\,,\tag{3.5}$$

where g is a coupling constant with the mass dimension [g] = -1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>One may wonder how the axion potential changes in the presence of the kinetic mixing between the two three forms, e.g.  $\mathcal{L}(X,Y) \supset \epsilon XY$ , in eq. (3.1) with  $\epsilon$  a dimensionless coupling measuring the mixing. But even in this case,  $V(a,b) \simeq (1/2)(M_a a + M_b b)^2$  is generated when  $\Lambda_{\text{QCD}} \ll \Lambda_h$  holds.

Defining

$$g_{a\gamma\gamma} \equiv -\frac{gr}{\sqrt{1+r^2}}, \quad g_{b\gamma\gamma} \equiv \frac{g}{\sqrt{1+r^2}},$$
 (3.6)

we see  $g_{b\gamma\gamma}/g_{a\gamma\gamma} = r^{-1}$ . We identify  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  with  $c_a \alpha_{\rm em}/(2\pi F_a)$  where  $c_a \simeq -1.92$  and 0.75 for the KSVZ [40, 41] and DFSZ [42, 43] models respectively,  $\alpha_{\rm em} = 1/137$  is the fine-structure constant and  $F_a$  is the QCD axion decay constant (in the mass eigenbasis). Similarly, we identify  $g = c_a \alpha_{\rm em}/(2\pi f_a)$  and  $F_a = (\sqrt{1+r^2}/r)f_a$ . Given  $r = M_b/M_a = f_a/f_b$ , this implies that for  $r \gg 1$ , b axion coupling to U(1)<sub>em</sub> gauge sector is suppressed. The other case  $r \ll 1$  may be more intriguing in a phenomenological sense.

For  $g_{b\gamma\gamma}/g_{a\gamma\gamma} \gg 1$   $(r \ll 1)$ , depending on a value of  $m_{b'}$  in eq. (3.4), the existence of the *b* axion may theoretically well-motivate axion-like particle (ALP) search based on the axion-photon coupling. In this limit, we have  $m_{b'} \simeq M_a = \Lambda_h^2/f_a$  from eq. (3.4) whereas the QCD axion mass becomes  $m_{a'} = \Lambda_{\rm QCD}^2/F_a = (r/\sqrt{1+r^2})m_a$ .

Interesting is to observe that for a given  $(m_{a'}, g_{a\gamma\gamma})$ , even if  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  is too small for the current and future experimental sensitivity to reach, there arises a new target parameter space of searching for a sub-eV *b* axion with  $g_{b\gamma\gamma} = g_{a\gamma\gamma}/r$ . Given  $f_a/f_b = r \simeq f_a/F_a$  for  $r \ll 1$ , requiring a sub-Planckian QCD axion decay constant, i.e.  $F_a \lesssim M_P$  gives us  $f_a/r \lesssim M_P$ . Then insofar as  $\Lambda_{\rm QCD} < \Lambda_h \lesssim \sqrt{r} 10^{4.5}$  GeV holds, *b* axion mass becomes sub-eV scale, but still larger than that of QCD axion.

With the *b* axion being characterized by  $m_{b'}/m_{a'} \simeq r^{-1} (\Lambda_h/\Lambda_{\rm QCD})^2$  and  $g_{b\gamma\gamma} = g_{a\gamma\gamma}r^{-1}$ , we expect the target parameter space for *b* axion to be located below the QCD axion band in  $(m_{a'}, g_{a\gamma\gamma})$ . This motivates searches for ALPs in the future even in the event of null results for the QCD axion observation via axion-photon coupling.

The above picture is modified if we allow the b axion to couple directly to electromagnetism via an operator  $\mathcal{L} \supset -(g_b/2) bF_{\rm em} \wedge F_{\rm em}$ . If  $g_b \sim g$ , then the a' and b' axion photon couplings will have the same asymptotic behaviour in the large and small r regimes. This would imply that axion-photon experiments should expect two axions of nearly identical coupling strength, albeit at different mass values.

One could generalize eq. (3.1) to even more axions and 3-forms. So long as the additional axions do not couple to the QCD 3-form and the axion *a* does not couple to the additional 3-forms, then the QCD axion quality problem is still resolved and experiments should expect only two axions. If however the axion *a* couples to the additional 3-forms, then the last term in eq. (3.1) must be generalized so that the Lagrangian contains the terms

$$\mathcal{L} \supset \sum_{i} (a\widetilde{M}_{i} + b_{i}\widetilde{N}_{i})Y_{i}$$
(3.7)

for some scales  $\widetilde{M}_i$  and  $\widetilde{N}_i$ . Diagonalizing as before, we now have the possibility of many axions coupling to photons, although the strength of the interactions depend on the above scales. Also note that rotating the axions as in eq. (3.3) will couple additional axions to QCD. This should manifest as a multi-axion signal in nuclear magenetic resonance (NMR) experiments [44–46]. See also [18, 47] for frameworks that anticipate multiple axion signals at NMR and photon-coupling experiments.

# 3.1.2 Entropy production from a heavy ALP

A possible scenario is that  $f_a$  and  $f_b$  are aligned to be  $\mathcal{O}(10^{16} \text{ GeV})$ , i.e.  $r \simeq 1$ , from naive expectations of string compactifications [48–54]. We find this case interesting since the minimal high quality QCD axion model presented in section 2 can resolve several cosmological tensions that the string axion scenario suffers from.

The theoretical motivation notwithstanding, as can be seen below [55], such a string axion in the minimal set-up without a tuning for the initial misalignment angle  $\theta_i \equiv a_{ini}/f_a$  gives rise to the axion dark matter relic density exceedingly larger than required

$$\Omega_a h^2 \simeq (2 \times 10^4) \times \theta_{\rm ini}^2 \times \left(\frac{f_a}{10^{16} \,\mathrm{GeV}}\right)^{\frac{7}{6}} \,. \tag{3.8}$$

Moreover, because of the constraint on the isocurvature perturbation [56] which gives

$$H_{\rm inf} \lesssim 10^{10} \,\mathrm{GeV}\left(\frac{\theta_{\rm ini}}{0.1}\right) \left(\frac{f_a}{10^{16} \,\mathrm{GeV}}\right) \left(\frac{\Omega_{\rm CDM} h^2}{\Omega_a h^2}\right) \,, \tag{3.9}$$

the overabundance  $\Omega_a h^2 \gg \Omega_{\text{CDM}} h^2$  in turn makes  $f_a = \mathcal{O}(10^{16})$  GeV incompatible with the high scale inflation models unless  $\theta_{\text{ini}}$  is extremely small.

This cosmological tensions with a large  $f_a$  may be reconciled thanks to a heavy b axion enhancing the QCD axion quality. For  $\Lambda_h \gtrsim 10^{10}$  GeV, one may expect to have b axion as heavy as or heavier than TeV scale. Then, thanks to the b axion coupling to the SM photon in eq. (3.5) with  $r \simeq 1$ , even the perturbative decay rate for  $b \to \gamma + \gamma$  can be large enough to induce the decay of the b axion at a time earlier than the BBN era. Furthermore, such a TeV-scale heavy b axion can be assigned an initial amplitude as large as  $f_b$ . Armed with such a large initial amplitude and TeV scale mass, the b axion is capable of producing a large amount of entropy (via SM photon production) prior to the BBN era.

With these features of an early decay and large energy density, the *b* axions can thus be exploited to produce entropy (radiation), enabling a sufficient dilution of  $\Omega_a h^2$  [57–62].<sup>4</sup> Thus, the presence of a heavy *b* axion can help the string QCD axion be consistent with cosmological constraints without the fine-tuning of  $\theta_{ini}$  or the extension of a QCD axion model.

# 3.2 Quintessence axion

### 3.2.1 Quintessence axion quality problem and solution

The recent observation for the non-zero rotation angle  $\beta = \mathcal{O}(0.1) \text{ deg of CMB}$  linear polarization [65, 66] has aroused much interests in an axion-like quintessence [67–69] (see also [70–74]).<sup>5</sup> However, those quintessence axion models based on the use of an anomalous global U(1) symmetry are challenged by possible corrections to the tiny quintessence mass because the global symmetry the models assume is easily broken by quantum gravity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>A concomitant of the presence of such a heavy scalar is the early matter domination (EMD) era. The entropy release following EDM can be tested by, for instance, the suppression of the stochastic gravitational wave background for the modes entering the horizon before the decay of the heavy scalar [63, 64].

 $<sup>^{5}</sup>$ As well as [75–78] for a different viewpoint on the role of axions in explaining the observed cosmic acceleration.

effects [6–8]. As a consequence of the quantum gravity lore denying the exact global symmetry, the tiny mass of order  $H_0$  (the current Hubble expansion rate) for the quintessence as well as a global minimum of the potential for the QCD axion can be easily spoiled by the presence of the global symmetry breaking higher dimensional operators made up of complex scalars [11–14].

Then, in the three-form language, could the tiny mass of a quintessence axion be protected in the same way as the QCD axion? Although the framework for the 3-form gauge theory in the Higgs phase was originally employed in [15] for studying the QCD axion in the different perspective from the PQ picture, one may apply the same framework to building a model for the quintessence axion dark energy (q) (as an example, see [28]). The necessary modifications include the replacements  $\Lambda_{\rm QCD} \leftrightarrow \Lambda_{\rm DE} \simeq 2\text{meV}$ ,  $\theta_{\rm QCD} \leftrightarrow \theta_{\rm DE}$ ,  $f_a \leftrightarrow f_q \simeq M_P$  and  $m_a \leftrightarrow m_q \simeq H_0 \simeq 10^{-33}$ eV in eq. (2.1). Here,  $m_q \simeq H_0$  is required for satisfying the slow-roll to date, which in turn requires  $f_q \simeq M_P$  for meeting  $\Lambda_{\rm DE}^2 \simeq m_q f_a$ .

When such a 2-form dual to the quintessence axion mixes with a 3-form other than that for generating the quintessence mass, the quintessence receives an additional contribution to the mass, which may spoil the requisite smallness of  $m_q$  for the slow-roll today. This implies that the quality issue lurking in the QCD axion is present in quintessence axion models as well. Given that the underlying source causing the problems is identical, we see that if the matching of the numbers of 2-forms and 3-forms are ensured again, the mass generation of the quintessence field can be solely attributed to a coupling to a single 3-form. Namely, the multiple 2-forms (axions) in the 3-form language can protect the quintessence mass in the same manner as the QCD axion.

As discussed in section 3.1, the mixing of quintessence with other ALPs required for protecting the tiny mass may induce a unexpected coupling of the quintessence to other gauge sector. In particular, when the mixing is done with the QCD axion, the quintessence field couples to the SM photon, which might be of a phenomenological interest. Below we discuss how this feature of high quality quintessence axion in the dual formulation can be applied to the phenomenology of the rotation of the CMB linear polarization.

#### 3.2.2 A model explaining the cosmic birefringence

For the quintessence axion to explain the cosmic birefringence, there must be the coupling between the quintessence field and the SM photon, i.e.  $\mathcal{L} \supset -(g_{q\gamma\gamma}/2) qF_{\rm em} \wedge F_{\rm em}$  with  $[g_{q\gamma\gamma}] = -1$ . Only then does there occur the phase difference in U(1)<sub>em</sub> gauge fields of different polarization, which causes the rotation of the linear polarization of the CMB [79, 80].

Given  $g_{q\gamma\gamma} = c_q \alpha_{\rm em}/(2\pi f_q)$  with the anomaly factor  $c_q$  and the decay constant  $f_q$ , the rotation angle so obtained is given by

$$\beta = 0.42 \deg \times \frac{c_q}{4\pi} \times \frac{q(t_0) - q(t_{\rm LSS})}{f_q}, \qquad (3.10)$$

where  $\Delta q \equiv q(t_0) - q(t_{\text{LSS}})$  is the field displacement from the last scattering surface (LSS) to today. From the analysis of CMB linear polarization data from Planck and WMAP, the rotation angle  $\beta = 0.342^{\circ} + 0.094^{\circ}_{-0.091^{\circ}}$  [66] (3.6 $\sigma$ ) was inferred.

From the equation of motion of the deviation  $\delta q$  of the quintessence field from the hill top, one can obtain  $\delta q/f_q \propto \exp(M_P^2 H_0 t/f_q^2)$ . Taking  $t \simeq H_0^{-1}$  and  $f_q \simeq M_P$ , we see that  $\Delta q/f_q = \mathcal{O}(0.1\text{--}1)$ . Therefore, if the decay constant  $f_q \propto g_{q\gamma\gamma}^{-1}$  characterizing the quintessence coupling to U(1)<sub>em</sub> sets the period of the quintessence potential, one can account for  $\beta = \mathcal{O}(0.1)$  deg with a reasonable anomaly factor  $c_q = \mathcal{O}(1\text{--}10)$ .

While such a simple and plausible explanation is attractive, there are theoretical criticisms: first is the aforementioned quintessence axion quality issue, and second is a lack of an underlying motivation as to why the quintessence field couples to  $U(1)_{em}$ . For the later, one may assume a KSVZ-like model with fermions simultaneously carrying charges to both  $U(1)_{em}$  and a global  $U(1)_X$  whose spontaneous breaking gives the quintessence field as its Nambu-Goldstone boson. However, from a UV perspective, there is no reason for introducing such fermions and thus the set-up is rather contrived.<sup>6</sup>

We propose that the dual formulation of the quintessence axion can address these two questions simultaneously. We have seen that making all the 3-forms massive using multiple (2-form) axions is accompanied by the mixture of axions. This correlation between protecting axion quality and the resulting mixing among axions may naturally cause a quintessence coupling to  $U(1)_{em}$  without assuming the multiple contrived model-building ingredients required in the PQ picture.

For the quality issue, the most worrisome situation would be that both the QCD axion and the quintessence field suffer from couplings to additional 3-forms associated with scales satisfying  $\Lambda_{\rm QCD} \ll \Lambda_h$ . Once there is such a 3-form, say  $P_{\mu\nu\lambda}$ , the gauge invariant couplings of both axions to  $P_{\mu\nu\lambda}$  will modify the minimum of QCD axion potential and the quintessence mass simultaneously. In this general case, making all the 3-forms massive with multiple 2-forms will result in the mixing between the QCD axion and the quintessence field and thereby the coupling between the quintessence field and  $U(1)_{\rm em}$  can be induced from the QCD axion-photon coupling  $\propto -aF_{\rm em} \wedge F_{\rm em}$ .

To see how this works, we study the toy model in which both the QCD axion (a) and the quintessence field (q) couple to a common extra 3-form P with field strength S = dPand  $Z \equiv (1/4!)\epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}S_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$ . We include another axion, b, and denote the 2-forms dual to a, q and b by  $B_a$ ,  $B_q$  and  $B_b$ , respectively. We also define C as the QCD CS 3-form and E as the 3-form associated with the scale  $\Lambda_{\rm DE}$  and attributed to generation of  $m_q$ . Finally, we take  $f_a, f_q$  and  $f_b$  as the decay constants of the axions in the interaction eigenbasis.

Following the construction in 2.1, we utilize the relevant scales  $\Lambda_{\text{QCD}}$ ,  $\Lambda_{\text{DE}}$ , and  $\Lambda_h$  to construct mass parameters  $m_a = \Lambda_{\text{QCD}}^2/f_a$ ,  $m_q = \Lambda_{\text{DE}}^2/f_q$ ,  $M_i = \Lambda_h^2/f_i$  with i = a, q, b. Defining composite 3-form  $G_a = dB_a + m_aC + M_aP$ ,  $G_q = dB_q + m_qE + M_qP$  and  $G_b = dB_b + M_bP$ , we enforce the Bianchi identities  $dG_a = (\Lambda_{\text{QCD}}^2/f_a)H + (\Lambda_h^2/f_a)S$ ,  $dG_q = (\Lambda_{\text{DE}}^2/f_q)K + (\Lambda_h^2/f_q)S$  and  $dG_b = (\Lambda_h^2/f_b)S$  with H = dC and K = dE.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>For the QCD axion, as the quarks contributing to the mixed anomaly  $U(1)_{PQ} - [SU(3)_c]^2$  carry  $U(1)_{em}$ charges, the QCD axion coupling to  $U(1)_{em}$  is unavoidable. For the quintessence axion, however, if  $SU(N)_X$ is a non-Abelian gauge theory whose instanton generates the quintessence mass, it is not necessary for a fermion contributing to the mixed anomaly  $U(1)_X - [SU(N)_X]^2$  to carry a  $U(1)_{em}$  charge. Therefore, unless  $SU(N)_X$  is identified with  $SU(2)_L$  in the SM model, assuming fermions carrying charges of both  $U(1)_X$  and  $U(1)_{em}$  is beyond a minimal set-up.

One can now generalize eq. (2.1) and (2.2) to include the multiple 2-forms  $B_i$  and 3-forms C, E and P. After integrating out  $G_a$ ,  $G_q$  and  $G_b$  ( $B_a$ ,  $B_q$  and  $B_b$ ), we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}(C, E, P, a, q, b) \supset -\frac{1}{2}X^2 - \frac{1}{2}Y^2 - \frac{1}{2}Z^2 + am_a X + qm_q Y + (aM_a + qM_q + bM_b)Z,$$
(3.11)

where  $X \equiv (1/4!)\epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}H_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$  and  $Y \equiv (1/4!)\epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}K_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$ .

Due to the hierarchy  $\Lambda_{\text{DE}} \ll \Lambda_{\text{QCD}} \ll \Lambda_h$ , the mass parameters satisfy  $m_a, m_q \ll M_a, M_q, M_b$ . Then after C, E and P are integrated out, eq. (3.11) gives

$$V(a,q,b) \supset \frac{1}{2}(M_a a + M_q q + M_b b)^2.$$
 (3.12)

From diagonalizing the mass matrix in eq. (3.12), the QCD axion field *a* in the interaction eigenbasis (unprimed) is found to be the following linear combination of axions in the mass eigenbasis (primed)

$$a \approx \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}a' - \frac{f_a}{2f_q}q' + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}b' & \text{for } f_q \gg f_b \simeq f_a ,\\ -\frac{f_a}{f_b}a' - \frac{f_a}{f_q}q' + b' & \text{for } f_q \gg f_b \gg f_a . \end{cases}$$
(3.13)

For the case of  $f_q \gg f_b \gtrsim f_a$ ,<sup>7</sup> we see that due to the QCD axion-photon coupling  $\mathcal{L} \supset -(g/2) \ aF_{\rm em} \wedge F_{\rm em}$  where  $g = c_a \alpha_{\rm em}/(2\pi f_a)$  and  $c_a$  is the PQ-U(1)<sub>em</sub> anomaly coefficient, an induced quintessence-photon coupling arises:  $\mathcal{L} \supset -(g_{q\gamma\gamma}/2) \ qF_{\rm em} \wedge F_{\rm em}$  with  $g_{q\gamma\gamma} = c_a \alpha_{\rm em}/(2\pi f_q)$ . We identify  $g_{a\gamma\gamma} = c_a \alpha_{\rm em}/(2\sqrt{2\pi}f_a)$  for the upper case and  $g_{a\gamma\gamma} = c_a \alpha_{\rm em}/(2\pi f_b)$  for the upper and lower cases in eq. (3.13), respectively.

As a result, the rotation angle of the linear polarization of the CMB induced by the quintessence coupling to  $U(1)_{em}$  is given by

$$\beta = \frac{g_{q\gamma\gamma}}{2} \times [q(t_0) - q(t_{\text{LSS}})]$$
  
$$\simeq 0.42 \text{ deg} \times \frac{c_a}{4\pi} \times \frac{q(t_0) - q(t_{\text{LSS}})}{f_a}.$$
 (3.14)

If  $c_a = \mathcal{O}(10)$  can be realized by multiple fermions contributing to the loop inducing the anomalous coupling of QCD axion to U(1)<sub>em</sub>,  $\beta = \mathcal{O}(0.1)$ deg can be explained for  $\Delta q/f_q = \mathcal{O}(1)$ .

# 4 Conclusion

In the dual formulation of the QCD axion, the potential coupling of the axion to extra 3forms is the unique fundamental source of the QCD axion quality problem. Solutions to this problem manifest in one of two ways — either the coupling to 3-forms is extremely suppressed, or the number of 2-forms and 3-forms in a model must match. While the first scenario is certainly a possibility, we consider the latter scenario less fine-tuned, and so focused on it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>For the other case with  $f_q \gg f_a \gg f_b$ , we find that  $g_{q\gamma\gamma} \ll c_a \alpha_{\rm em}/(2\pi f_q)$ , requiring too a large  $c_a \gtrsim \mathcal{O}(100)$  for explaining  $\beta = \mathcal{O}(0.1)$  deg. Thus, we focus on the case  $f_q \gg f_b \gtrsim f_a$ .

If there is a QCD axion quality problem, the latter scenario may serve as the evidence for the presence of the multiple axion-like particles. We emphasize that correlating the quality problem with multiple axion scenario (axiverse) is one of the distinguishable features of the dual formulation in comparison to the PQ picture.

Importantly, as a consequence of the multiple axion solution, the mixing among axions becomes inevitable. In this work, we have demonstrated how this mixing can provide us with interesting axion phenomenologies.

Given the QCD axion coupling to  $U(1)_{em}$ , depending on a scale  $\Lambda_h$  associated with the 3-form spoiling the QCD axion quality, axion-like particles protecting the QCD axion can be either as light as sub-eV scale or as heavy as TeV scale. For sub-eV case in section 3.1.1, the QCD axion quality problem may motivate sub-ALP searches exploiting the axion-photon coupling. For the heavy ALP case in section 3.1.2, the QCD axion with a decay constant as large as  $f_a = \mathcal{O}(10^{16})$  GeV may be cosmologically safe thanks to the heavy ALP whose decay causes sufficient dilution of the large QCD axion dark matter density.

We also discussed the usefulness of the dual formulation for models of quintessence axion dark energy. In spite of its simplicity, the explanation of the potentially observed cosmic birefringence by the quintessence axion in the PQ picture may find it difficult to justify the tiny quintessence mass free of corrections due to quantum gravity effects and the coupling between quintessence and  $U(1)_{em}$ . In contrast, in the dual formulation, these problems can be resolved simultaneously because the mixing among axions resulting from enhancing axion qualities can naturally induce the coupling between quintessence and  $U(1)_{em}$ . An alternative solution to the observed dark energy in the framework of 4-forms was discussed in [21, 81–84]. It would be interesting to combine the approach there with the above discussion in solving the QCD axion quality problem, or other phenomenological applications such as those discussed in [85, 86].

Although we focused on the ALPs coupling to  $U(1)_{em}$  in this work, the framework can be also applied to induce QCD axion coupling to dark gauge sectors. For instance, when *b* axion discussed in section 3.1 has its own coupling to a dark  $U(1)_D$  from the outset, this gives QCD axion's coupling to  $U(1)_D$ . This kind of possibility resulting from the QCD axion quality issue in the dual formulation will make the discussion for phenomenological implications richer. We leave exploring other implications for future work.

# Acknowledgments

G.C. would like to thank DESY and Imperial College London for their hospitality and support during the completion of this work. J.M.L. would like to thank King's College and the University of Groningen for their hospitality during the completion of this work. We are grateful to Clifford Burgess, Kiwoon Choi, Tony Gherghetta, Thomas Konstandin, Fernando Quevedo, Jérémie Quevillon, Fabrizio Rompineve, Geraldine Servant and Alexander Westphal for discussions. We thank Alexander Westphal and Nemanja Kaloper for comments on a draft of this work. J.M.L. is supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft under Germany's Excellence Strategy — EXC 2121 "Quantum Universe". **Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

# References

- R.D. Peccei and H.R. Quinn, CP Conservation in the Presence of Instantons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 38 (1977) 1440 [INSPIRE].
- [2] R.D. Peccei and H.R. Quinn, Constraints Imposed by CP Conservation in the Presence of Instantons, Phys. Rev. D 16 (1977) 1791 [INSPIRE].
- [3] S. Weinberg, A New Light Boson?, Phys. Rev. Lett. 40 (1978) 223 [INSPIRE].
- [4] F. Wilczek, Problem of Strong P and T Invariance in the Presence of Instantons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 40 (1978) 279 [INSPIRE].
- [5] C.A. Baker et al., An Improved experimental limit on the electric dipole moment of the neutron, Phys. Rev. Lett. 97 (2006) 131801 [hep-ex/0602020] [INSPIRE].
- [6] S.W. Hawking, Quantum Coherence Down the Wormhole, Phys. Lett. B 195 (1987) 337 [INSPIRE].
- [7] S.B. Giddings and A. Strominger, Loss of Incoherence and Determination of Coupling Constants in Quantum Gravity, Nucl. Phys. B **307** (1988) 854 [INSPIRE].
- [8] T. Banks and N. Seiberg, Symmetries and Strings in Field Theory and Gravity, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 084019 [arXiv:1011.5120] [INSPIRE].
- D. Harlow and H. Ooguri, Symmetries in quantum field theory and quantum gravity, Commun. Math. Phys. 383 (2021) 1669 [arXiv:1810.05338] [INSPIRE].
- [10] D. Harlow and H. Ooguri, Constraints on Symmetries from Holography, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 (2019) 191601 [arXiv:1810.05337] [INSPIRE].
- M. Kamionkowski and J. March-Russell, Planck scale physics and the Peccei-Quinn mechanism, Phys. Lett. B 282 (1992) 137 [hep-th/9202003] [INSPIRE].
- [12] R. Holman et al., Solutions to the strong CP problem in a world with gravity, Phys. Lett. B 282 (1992) 132 [hep-ph/9203206] [INSPIRE].
- [13] S.M. Barr and D. Seckel, Planck scale corrections to axion models, Phys. Rev. D 46 (1992) 539 [INSPIRE].
- [14] S. Ghigna, M. Lusignoli and M. Roncadelli, Instability of the invisible axion, Phys. Lett. B 283 (1992) 278 [INSPIRE].
- [15] G. Dvali, Three-form gauging of axion symmetries and gravity, hep-th/0507215 [INSPIRE].
- [16] G. Dvali, Strong-CP with and without gravity, arXiv:2209.14219 [INSPIRE].
- [17] Z. Chen and A. Kobakhidze, Coloured gravitational instantons, the strong CP problem and the companion axion solution, Eur. Phys. J. C 82 (2022) 596 [arXiv:2108.05549] [INSPIRE].
- [18] Z. Chen et al., Phenomenology of the companion-axion model: photon couplings, Eur. Phys. J. C 82 (2022) 940 [arXiv:2109.12920] [INSPIRE].
- [19] Z. Chen et al., Cosmology of the companion-axion model: dark matter, gravitational waves, and primordial black holes, arXiv:2110.11014 [INSPIRE].

- [20] C.P. Burgess, G. Choi and F. Quevedo, UV and IR Effects in Axion Quality Control, arXiv:2301.00549 [INSPIRE].
- [21] R. Bousso and J. Polchinski, Quantization of four form fluxes and dynamical neutralization of the cosmological constant, JHEP 06 (2000) 006 [hep-th/0004134] [INSPIRE].
- [22] A. Arvanitaki et al., String Axiverse, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 123530 [arXiv:0905.4720]
   [INSPIRE].
- [23] M. Cicoli, M. Goodsell and A. Ringwald, The type IIB string axiverse and its low-energy phenomenology, JHEP 10 (2012) 146 [arXiv:1206.0819] [INSPIRE].
- [24] M. Luscher, The Secret Long Range Force in Quantum Field Theories With Instantons, Phys. Lett. B 78 (1978) 465 [INSPIRE].
- [25] C.G. Callan Jr., R.F. Dashen and D.J. Gross, Toward a Theory of the Strong Interactions, Phys. Rev. D 17 (1978) 2717 [INSPIRE].
- [26] C.G. Callan Jr., R.F. Dashen and D.J. Gross, A Theory of Hadronic Structure, Phys. Rev. D 19 (1979) 1826 [INSPIRE].
- [27] N. Kaloper and L. Sorbo, A Natural Framework for Chaotic Inflation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102 (2009) 121301 [arXiv:0811.1989] [INSPIRE].
- [28] N. Kaloper and L. Sorbo, Where in the String Landscape is Quintessence, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 043528 [arXiv:0810.5346] [INSPIRE].
- [29] N. Kaloper, A. Lawrence and L. Sorbo, An Ignoble Approach to Large Field Inflation, JCAP 03 (2011) 023 [arXiv:1101.0026] [INSPIRE].
- [30] N. Kaloper and A. Lawrence, London equation for monodromy inflation, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 063526 [arXiv:1607.06105] [INSPIRE].
- [31] G. D'Amico, N. Kaloper and A. Lawrence, Monodromy Inflation in the Strong Coupling Regime of the Effective Field Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 091301 [arXiv:1709.07014]
   [INSPIRE].
- [32] K. Choi and J.E. Kim, Harmful Axions in Superstring Models, Phys. Lett. B 154 (1985) 393
   [Erratum ibid. 156 (1985) 452] [INSPIRE].
- [33] K. Choi and J.E. Kim, Compactification and Axions in  $E_8 \times E'_8$  Superstring Models, Phys. Lett. B 165 (1985) 71 [INSPIRE].
- [34] T. Banks and M. Dine, Couplings and scales in strongly coupled heterotic string theory, Nucl. Phys. B 479 (1996) 173 [hep-th/9605136] [INSPIRE].
- [35] K. Choi, Axions and the strong CP problem in M theory, Phys. Rev. D 56 (1997) 6588 [hep-th/9706171] [INSPIRE].
- [36] V.S. Kaplunovsky, One Loop Threshold Effects in String Unification, Nucl. Phys. B 307 (1988)
   145 [hep-th/9205068] [INSPIRE].
- [37] L.J. Dixon, V. Kaplunovsky and J. Louis, Moduli dependence of string loop corrections to gauge coupling constants, Nucl. Phys. B **355** (1991) 649 [INSPIRE].
- [38] M. Dine, N. Seiberg, X.G. Wen and E. Witten, Nonperturbative Effects on the String World Sheet, Nucl. Phys. B 278 (1986) 769 [INSPIRE].
- [39] M. Dine, N. Seiberg, X.G. Wen and E. Witten, Nonperturbative Effects on the String World Sheet. 2, Nucl. Phys. B 289 (1987) 319 [INSPIRE].

- [40] J.E. Kim, Weak Interaction Singlet and Strong CP Invariance, Phys. Rev. Lett. 43 (1979) 103 [INSPIRE].
- [41] M.A. Shifman, A.I. Vainshtein and V.I. Zakharov, Can Confinement Ensure Natural CP Invariance of Strong Interactions?, Nucl. Phys. B 166 (1980) 493 [INSPIRE].
- [42] M. Dine, W. Fischler and M. Srednicki, A Simple Solution to the Strong CP Problem with a Harmless Axion, Phys. Lett. B 104 (1981) 199 [INSPIRE].
- [43] A.R. Zhitnitsky, On Possible Suppression of the Axion Hadron Interactions (in Russian), Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 31 (1980) 260 [INSPIRE].
- [44] P.W. Graham and S. Rajendran, New Observables for Direct Detection of Axion Dark Matter, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 035023 [arXiv:1306.6088] [INSPIRE].
- [45] D. Budker et al., Proposal for a Cosmic Axion Spin Precession Experiment (CASPEr), Phys. Rev. X 4 (2014) 021030 [arXiv:1306.6089] [INSPIRE].
- [46] J.A. Dror, S. Gori, J.M. Leedom and N.L. Rodd, Sensitivity of Spin-Precession Axion Experiments, Phys. Rev. Lett. 130 (2023) 181801 [arXiv:2210.06481] [INSPIRE].
- [47] B. Gavela, P. Quílez and M. Ramos, The QCD axion sum rule, arXiv:2305.15465 [INSPIRE].
- [48] B. de Carlos, J.A. Casas, F. Quevedo and E. Roulet, Model independent properties and cosmological implications of the dilaton and moduli sectors of 4-d strings, Phys. Lett. B 318 (1993) 447 [hep-ph/9308325] [INSPIRE].
- [49] J.P. Conlon, The QCD axion and moduli stabilisation, JHEP 05 (2006) 078 [hep-th/0602233]
   [INSPIRE].
- [50] P. Svrcek and E. Witten, Axions In String Theory, JHEP 06 (2006) 051 [hep-th/0605206] [INSPIRE].
- [51] T. Banks, M. Dine, P.J. Fox and E. Gorbatov, On the possibility of large axion decay constants, JCAP 06 (2003) 001 [hep-th/0303252] [INSPIRE].
- [52] K. Choi and K.S. Jeong, String theoretic QCD axion with stabilized saxion and the pattern of supersymmetry breaking, JHEP 01 (2007) 103 [hep-th/0611279] [INSPIRE].
- [53] K.-S. Choi, I.-W. Kim and J.E. Kim, String compactification, QCD axion and axion-photon-photon coupling, JHEP 03 (2007) 116 [hep-ph/0612107] [INSPIRE].
- [54] B.S. Acharya, K. Bobkov and P. Kumar, An M Theory Solution to the Strong CP Problem and Constraints on the Axiverse, JHEP 11 (2010) 105 [arXiv:1004.5138] [INSPIRE].
- [55] P. Fox, A. Pierce and S.D. Thomas, Probing a QCD string axion with precision cosmological measurements, hep-th/0409059 [INSPIRE].
- [56] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2018 results. VI. Cosmological parameters, Astron. Astrophys.
   641 (2020) A6 [Erratum ibid. 652 (2021) C4] [arXiv:1807.06209] [INSPIRE].
- [57] P.J. Steinhardt and M.S. Turner, Saving the Invisible Axion, Phys. Lett. B 129 (1983) 51
   [INSPIRE].
- [58] G. Lazarides, R.K. Schaefer, D. Seckel and Q. Shafi, Dilution of Cosmological Axions by Entropy Production, Nucl. Phys. B 346 (1990) 193 [INSPIRE].
- [59] M. Kawasaki, T. Moroi and T. Yanagida, Can decaying particles raise the upper bound on the Peccei-Quinn scale?, Phys. Lett. B 383 (1996) 313 [hep-ph/9510461] [INSPIRE].

- [60] T. Banks and M. Dine, The Cosmology of string theoretic axions, Nucl. Phys. B 505 (1997) 445 [hep-th/9608197] [INSPIRE].
- [61] M. Kawasaki, T.T. Yanagida and N. Yokozaki, Cosmological problems of the string axion alleviated by high scale SUSY of m<sub>3/2</sub> ≈ 10–100 TeV, Phys. Lett. B **753** (2016) 389 [arXiv:1510.04171] [INSPIRE].
- [62] G. Choi and E.D. Schiappacasse, PBH assisted search for QCD axion dark matter, JCAP 09 (2022) 072 [arXiv:2205.02255] [INSPIRE].
- [63] F. D'Eramo and K. Schmitz, Imprint of a scalar era on the primordial spectrum of gravitational waves, Phys. Rev. Research. 1 (2019) 013010 [arXiv:1904.07870] [INSPIRE].
- [64] G. Choi, R. Jinno and T.T. Yanagida, Probing PeV scale SUSY breaking with satellite galaxies and primordial gravitational waves, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 095018 [arXiv:2107.12804] [INSPIRE].
- [65] Y. Minami and E. Komatsu, New Extraction of the Cosmic Birefringence from the Planck 2018 Polarization Data, Phys. Rev. Lett. 125 (2020) 221301 [arXiv:2011.11254] [INSPIRE].
- [66] J.R. Eskilt and E. Komatsu, Improved constraints on cosmic birefringence from the WMAP and Planck cosmic microwave background polarization data, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 063503 [arXiv:2205.13962] [INSPIRE].
- [67] G. Choi, W. Lin, L. Visinelli and T.T. Yanagida, Cosmic birefringence and electroweak axion dark energy, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) L101302 [arXiv:2106.12602] [INSPIRE].
- [68] S. Gasparotto and I. Obata, Cosmic birefringence from monodromic axion dark energy, JCAP
   08 (2022) 025 [arXiv:2203.09409] [INSPIRE].
- [69] K. Murai, F. Naokawa, T. Namikawa and E. Komatsu, *Isotropic cosmic birefringence from* early dark energy, *Phys. Rev. D* **107** (2023) L041302 [arXiv:2209.07804] [INSPIRE].
- [70] K. Choi, String or M theory axion as a quintessence, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 043509
   [hep-ph/9902292] [INSPIRE].
- [71] Y. Nomura, T. Watari and T. Yanagida, Quintessence axion potential induced by electroweak instanton effects, Phys. Lett. B 484 (2000) 103 [hep-ph/0004182] [INSPIRE].
- [72] M. Ibe, M. Yamazaki and T.T. Yanagida, Quintessence Axion Revisited in Light of Swampland Conjectures, Class. Quant. Grav. 36 (2019) 235020 [arXiv:1811.04664] [INSPIRE].
- [73] G. Choi, M. Suzuki and T.T. Yanagida, Quintessence axion dark energy and a solution to the hubble tension, Phys. Lett. B 805 (2020) 135408 [arXiv:1910.00459] [INSPIRE].
- [74] J.E. Kim, Y. Kim and S. Nam, Quintessential Axions from a New Confining Force, arXiv:2204.13268 [INSPIRE].
- [75] C. Csaki, N. Kaloper and J. Terning, Dimming supernovae without cosmic acceleration, Phys. Rev. Lett. 88 (2002) 161302 [hep-ph/0111311] [INSPIRE].
- [76] C. Csaki, N. Kaloper and J. Terning, Effects of the intergalactic plasma on supernova dimming via photon axion oscillations, Phys. Lett. B 535 (2002) 33 [hep-ph/0112212] [INSPIRE].
- [77] C. Csaki, N. Kaloper, M. Peloso and J. Terning, Super GZK photons from photon axion mixing, JCAP 05 (2003) 005 [hep-ph/0302030] [INSPIRE].
- [78] C. Csaki, N. Kaloper and J. Terning, *Exorcising* w < -1, *Annals Phys.* **317** (2005) 410 [astro-ph/0409596] [INSPIRE].

- [79] D. Harari and P. Sikivie, Effects of a Nambu-Goldstone boson on the polarization of radio galaxies and the cosmic microwave background, Phys. Lett. B 289 (1992) 67 [INSPIRE].
- [80] M.A. Fedderke, P.W. Graham and S. Rajendran, Axion Dark Matter Detection with CMB Polarization, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 015040 [arXiv:1903.02666] [INSPIRE].
- [81] N. Kaloper, General relativity on the multiverse and nature's hierarchies, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 044023 [arXiv:2202.08860] [INSPIRE].
- [82] N. Kaloper, Hidden variables of gravity and geometry and the cosmological constant problem, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 065009 [arXiv:2202.06977] [INSPIRE].
- [83] N. Kaloper and A. Westphal, Quantum-mechanical mechanism for reducing the cosmological constant, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) L101701 [arXiv:2204.13124] [INSPIRE].
- [84] N. Kaloper, de Sitter space decay and cosmological constant relaxation in unimodular gravity with charged membranes, Phys. Rev. D 108 (2023) 025005 [arXiv:2305.02349] [INSPIRE].
- [85] G. Dvali, S. Folkerts and A. Franca, How neutrino protects the axion, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 105025 [arXiv:1312.7273] [INSPIRE].
- [86] O. Sakhelashvili, Consistency of the dual formulation of axion solutions to the strong CP problem, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 085020 [arXiv:2110.03386] [INSPIRE].